THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 15 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Family Court

H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case Number 2022-CP-27-00109  
Appellate Case Number 2023-000791

A.M.L., and J.J.L., by and through  
their Next of Friend, John Doe,  
R.D.M., by and through his Next of  
Friend, Jane Snow, J.J.G., and S.T.S.,

Appellants,

v.

Wright Directions Family Services,  
LLC.,

Respondents.

**AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

**Counsel for Appellants:**

Robert J. Butcher  
Deborah J. Butcher  
Foster Care Abuse Law Firm, PA

507 Walnut Street  
Post Office Box 610

## **Statement of Issues on Appeal**

- I. The trial court abused its discretion in awarding costs to Wright Directions, LLC.**
- II. The trial court abused its discretion in failing to sanction Wright Directions, LLC.**

## Statement of the Case

Appellant Children, A.M.L., J.J.L., R.D.M., J.J.G., and S.T.S., appeal the circuit court's granting of Respondent Wright Directions Family Services, LLC's Motion for Costs.

Appellant Children were chronically starved and beaten by their adoptive parents from 2010 until their removal in 2016. From November 2013 through May 2015, Respondent Wright Directions Family Services, LLC (WDFS) provided mental health services, behavioral modification services, and mentoring services to Appellant Children.

From May 2019 through February 25, 2022, WDFS refused to provide the Appellant Children with their records. Because the statute of limitations for J.J.G. and S.T.S. were fast approaching, the Children were forced to file this action for specific performance to allow the Children's expert witness to review the records and write an opinion regarding WDFS's breaches of the standard of care while it provided mental health services to the minor children.

On April 12, 2022, the circuit court issued a temporary order requiring WDFS to produce the records. The order also allowed WDFS to "seek costs associated with these records as allowed under 45 C.F.R. § 164.524(c)(4)". On May 5, 2022, WDFS submitted to the Children an inflated and fraudulent invoice for costs of the production of the disputed records in the amount of \$7,811.44.

The circuit court granted WDFS's motion for costs in a Form 4 Order on March 28, 2023, and denied the Children's Motion to Reconsider on May 12, 2023. This appeal follows.

## **Relevant Facts**

### **I. Placement and adoption of the minor children.**

#### **a. Current placement and adoption.**

On October 3, 2018, A.M.L., and J.J.L., along with their sister, E.R.L., were adopted by John and Jane Doe and reside in Summerville, South Carolina. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*4, Exhibit 1 (April 1, 2022). R.D.M. was adopted by Jane Snow and her husband on March 31, 2021, and he resides in Charleston, South Carolina. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*4, Exhibit 48 (April 1, 2022). J.J.G. was adopted by his parents on October 16, 2021, and he resides in North Charleston, South Carolina. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*4, Exhibit 49 (April 1, 2022). S.T.S. was adopted on June 11, 2019, and he resides on St. Helena Island, South Carolina. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*4, Exhibit 50 (April 1, 2022).

#### **b. Placement and adoption with the Mitchell Family.**

S.T.S. lived with Yulanda and Herbert Mitchell since he was two months old. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*5, Exhibit 5, \*6, 8, Exhibit 46, Transcript of Record, *State v. Mitchell*, 2017-GS-07-00711, et al., \*12, 34 (April 1, 2022).

J.J.G., A.M.L. J.J.L., and R.D.M. share a biological mother and were born in Ohio. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*5, Exhibit 2, \*18-21, Exhibit 6, \*1, Exhibit 7, \*1 (April 1, 2022). On January 26, 2009, J.J.G., A.M.L. J.J.L., and R.D.M. became permanent wards of the State of Ohio and were free for adoption. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*5, Exhibit 2, \*16, Exhibit 6, \*14, Exhibit 7, \*10 (April 1, 2022).

On March 11, 2010, the State of Ohio and Franklin County Childrens Services placed A.M.L., J.J.G., J.J.L., and R.D.M. in the Mitchell's home in South Carolina. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*7, Exhibit 6, \*14, Exhibit 7, \*10 (April 1, 2022). A.M.L., J.J.G., J.J.L., and R.D.M. were adopted by the Mitchells on June 6, 2010. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*7, Exhibit 6, \*14, Exhibit 7, \*10 (April 1, 2022).

Before the Children were placed in the Mitchell home, South Carolina Department of Social Services had previously removed a pre-adoptive child from the Mitchell home due to physical abuse and the agency made a finding of abuse and neglect. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*8, Exhibit 18 (April 1, 2022).

A.M.L., J.J.L., R.D.M., J.J.G., and S.T.S. were chronically starved and physically abused from 2010 through November 2016. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*10-29 and Exhibits cited in the memorandum (April 1, 2022).

**c. Attempts to obtain the Children's records from WDFS.**

From November 5, 2013, through May 15, 2013, WDFS saw or provided services for the Children:

1. Over 124 times for A.M.L.
2. Over 128 times for J.J.L.
3. Over 148 times for R.D.M.
4. Over 169 times for J.J.G., and
5. Over 85 times for S.T.S.

Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*3 (April 1, 2022); Motion to Show Cause and for Expedited Hearing, \*3, Exhibits 1-5 (March 9, 2022).

Before filing suit, Plaintiffs requested complete copies of their records from WDFS beginning:

- On May 2, 2019, counsel for Plaintiffs sent a signed authorization to WDFS for all of A.M.L.'s and J.J.L.'s records and other documentation.
- On May 12, 2021, counsel for Plaintiffs sent another authorization to WDFS for all of the records and other documentation for A.M.L., J.J.L., E.R.L., R.D.M., J.J.G., and S.T.S.
- On December 15, 2021, counsel for Plaintiffs sent another authorization to WDFS for all of the records and other documentation for A.M.L.
- On January 19, 2022, counsel for Plaintiffs sent another authorization to WDFS for all of the records and other documentation for J.J.G.
- On February 25, 2022, counsel for Plaintiffs sent another authorization to WDFS for all of the records and other documentation for A.M.L., J.J.L., E.R.L., R.D.M., J.J.G., and S.T.S.
- On February 25, 2022, a paralegal for Plaintiffs' counsel called WDFS and the agency informed her that it will not produce records without a subpoena.

Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*2 (April 1, 2022); Motion to Show Cause and for Expedited Hearing, \*4, Exhibits 6-11 (March 9, 2022).

The Children filed a summons and complaint and a Motion to Show Cause on March 9, 2022, amending their complaint on March 10, 2022. Summons and Complaint (March 9, 2022); Motion to Show Cause and for Expedited Hearing (March 9, 2022); Amended Complaint (March 10, 2022).

WDFS finally produced some of the Children's records on March 10, 2022, after the Children had informed WDFS that it had filed suit. Plaintiffs' Memorandum of Law in Support of their Motion to Show Cause, \*2 (April 1, 2022).

On April 7, 2022, the circuit court heard the Children's motion and issued a Form 4 order granting relief. Form 4 Order (April 8, 2022). A formal order was issued on April 12, 2022, and issued the following relief:

1. Defendant Wright Directions, LLC, shall deliver to the Plaintiffs' counsel any and all records within their possession or control that relate to the care of A.M.L., J.J.L., R.D.M., J.J.G., and S.T.S.
  - a. This includes psychotherapy notes, including but not limited to the statements of the Children.
  - b. Defendant Wright Directions, LLC may redact the impressions of the clinician(s).

2. These records must be delivered to the Children's counsel within fourteen (14) days of this Order.
3. Defendant Wright Directions, LLC, may seek costs associated with these records as allowed under 45 C.F.R. § 164.524(c)(4), because time is of the essence, the records must be delivered to the Plaintiffs and a bill for any cost is to accompany the records or may be billed separately after receipt of said records by the Plaintiffs. Should any issue arise concerning the cost in this matter, it can be brought before the Court but only after the records are delivered to Plaintiff.
4. This order should not be construed to have any bearing on any future discovery dispute between the parties in any follow-up litigation as it relates to these records.

Order, \*4-5 (April 12, 2022).

**d. WDFS's invoice for costs.**

WDFS sent an invoice in the amount of \$7,811.44 for the redaction and production of records on May 5, 2022. Defendant's Motion for Costs, \*3, Exhibit C, Exhibit D (October 26, 2022). The Children's counsel responded by email and refused to pay. Defendant's Motion for Costs, \*3, Exhibit E (October 26, 2022).

WDFS filed a Motion for Costs on October 26, 2022. Defendant's Motion for Costs, \*3, (October 26, 2022). The Children filed Plaintiffs' Amended Response to Motion for Costs on March 3, 2023, which included all the documents produced by WDFS and the Expert Report of Evan T. Ortlieb, Ph.D. (February 27, 2023). Plaintiffs' Amended Response to Motion for Costs (March 3, 2023).

The circuit court heard the Motion for Costs on March 9, 2023, and granted the motion on March 28, 2023. Form 4 Order (March 28, 2023). The Children filed a timely Motion to Reconsider on April 6, 2023. Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider (April 6, 2023). The circuit court issued a written order denying the Children's Motion to Reconsider on May 12, 2023. Order Denying Motion to Reconsider (May 12, 2023).

This appeal follows.

## Arguments

### I. Standard of Review.

The award of costs by the trial court will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Peterson v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 618 S.E.2d 903 (2005); *Stevenson v. Stevenson*, 295 S.C. 412, 368 S.E.2d 901 (1988); *Black v. Roche Biomedical Labs.*, 315 S.C. 223, 433 S.E.2d 21 (Ct.App. 1993).

A lower court has abused its discretion when its ruling is either controlled by an error of law or based on a factual conclusion lacking evidentiary support. *See, e.g., Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 425, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013); *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 398 S.C. 90, 108, 727 S.E.2d 407 (2012); *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 436-437, 663 S.E.2d 46 (2008); *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E. 202 (2007); *Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252, 487 S.E.2d 596 (1997); *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 326, 577 S.E.2d 460 (Ct. App. 2003).

An abuse of discretion occurs:

...when the trial court's ruling is based upon an error of law, such as application of the wrong legal principle; or, when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or, when the trial court is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or, when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious.

*Ex Parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 1, 5-6, 630 S.E.2d 454 (2006).

In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *Ex Parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 1, 6, 630 S.E.2d 454 (2006) (Citing *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000); *Osprey, Inc. v. Cabana Ltd. Partnership*, 340 S.C. 367, 372, 532 S.E.2d 269, 272 (2000) (same); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000).

**II. WDFS’s invoice is inflated and lacks credibility.**

WDFS sent the following invoice to the Children’s counsel:

DESCRIPTION	AMOUNT
Employee K.S. – Hourly Rate \$50.48 x 56 hours	\$2,826.88
Employee B.H. – Hourly Rate \$31.58 x 56 hours	\$1,768.48
Employee A.A. – Hourly Rate \$28.58 x 56 hours	\$1,600.48
Employee C.W. – Hourly Rate \$28.85 x 56 hours	\$1,615.60

Motion for Costs, \*2, Exhibit C, Affidavit of Ronda Stevens, Exhibit D, Invoice (October 26, 2022).

The Children’s WDFS records were submitted to the circuit court in support of the Children’s opposition to WDFS’s Motion for Costs. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*1-3 (March 3, 2023). A.M.L.’s records are in Exhibit 3 and 4. J.J.G.’s records are located in Exhibits 5-7. J.J.L.’s records are in Exhibits 8-9. R.D.M.’s records are in Exhibits 10-12. S.T.S.’s records are in Exhibit 13.

The WDFS employees who claim they reviewed the Children’s records are four individuals with college and post-college education who collectively reviewed 4,576 pages of records over 56 hours each. WDFS claims it took four college educated adults a total of 224 hours to read and mark 4,576 pages of records. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*2 (March 3, 2023).

In extrapolating the data, 224 hours x 60 minutes = 13,440 minutes. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*2 (March 3, 2023). This means the WDFS employees claimed they spent 2.93 minutes reviewing and marking each page (13,440 total minutes/4,576 pages = 2.9370 minutes per page). Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*2 (March 3, 2023). 2.94 minutes is

converted to +/-172 seconds. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*2 (March 3, 2023).

The fact that four employees spent 56 hours each in reviewing 4,576 pages is dubious, at best. *Rodriguez v. D.M. Camp & Sons*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 174132, fn. 7 (E.D.Cal.

December 6, 2012) (The Court finds dubious that each class representative spent the exact same number of hours on the exact same tasks).

The Court should note that 27.36% of the documents were essentially blank pages, containing little to no data that required reading - (1) next appointment date, (2) signature block and/or (3) a blank page. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*3 (March 3, 2023).

Specifically:

Exhibit Number	Total Pages	Blank Pages	Percentage Blank Pages
Exhibit 3	300	125 <sup>i</sup>	41.6%
Exhibit 4	251	49 <sup>ii</sup>	19.5%
Exhibit 5	500	224 <sup>iii</sup>	44.8%
Exhibit 6	976	73 <sup>iv</sup>	7.5%
Exhibit 7	60	27 <sup>v</sup>	45%
Exhibit 8	272	74 <sup>vi</sup>	27.2%
Exhibit 9	300	138 <sup>vii</sup>	46%
Exhibit 10	533	199 <sup>viii</sup>	37.3%
Exhibit 11	302	89 <sup>ix</sup>	29.5%
Exhibit 12	914	157 <sup>x</sup>	17.2%
Exhibit 13	308	97 <sup>xi</sup>	31.5%
<b>TOTAL:</b>	<b>4,576</b>	<b>1,252</b>	<b>27.36%</b>

The endnotes referenced in this chart list every single page in the record which were essentially blank pages.<sup>1</sup> So, starting out, we know that ¼ of the materials reviewed were essentially blank pages. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*3-4 (March 3, 2023); *see also*, Exhibit 1, \*2, Expert Report of Evan T. Ortlieb, Ph.D. (February 27, 2023) (It should be noted that some pages are either blank or may contain just a signature for instance; these pages are estimated to be

---

<sup>1</sup> The purpose of submitting Exhibits 3-13 is not to inundate the Court with documents. These are

upwards of ¼ of the total documents reviewed.)

1/3 of the first page of each progress report contains demographic data for each child, to include birthdate, health insurance number, the name and address of the Defendant company, the type of service allegedly provided, and the date and time the service was provided. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023).

After 2016, another portion of the first page is dedicated to each child's DSM mental health diagnosis. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023). For J.J.G., the DSM diagnosis is about 1 ½ inches. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4, Exhibit 6 - Plaintiffs' Bates No. 024876-025851 – J.J.G. Part B.pdf (March 3, 2023). It is unknown if the diagnosis portion is autofilled by the software or if it is cut and pasted by the service provider when the progress notes were written. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023)

Similarly, another 1/3 to ½ page is taken up with an exact, verbatim copy of a child's therapy goal that is copied from the child's Plan of Care. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023). It is the first box, labeled "Purpose of Contact". Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023). It is unknown if the goal is autofilled by the software or if it is cut and pasted by the service provider. Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4 (March 3, 2023).

For instance, on the first page of Exhibit 11 – R.D.M. B pt 2, the "Purpose of Contact" for R.D.M. is listed as:

1) Individual Therapy (Goal 1)

Goal: R.D.M. will decrease verbal aggression at the Group Home; 1. R.D.M. will express his feelings regarding his experiences in the past; 2. Discuss with clinician awareness and insight into his angry thoughts and feelings; 3. Learn alternative ways of expressing his

---

records that WDFS claimed it spend 240 hours redacting, which is meritless.

anger, increase respectful communication by understanding his angry feelings/ and work towards letting go of the past; 4. R.D.M. will talk with counselor about his anger from the past; Learn that adults can be trusted, caring people, who will be kind and thoughtful. 5. Explore R.D.M.'s feelings regarding his past with the adoptive family and then his biological family.

Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*4-5, Exhibit 11 – R.D.M. B pt 2, Pg. 1, Bates No. 027019 (March 3, 2023).

In R.D.M.'s Plan of Care for July 5, 2017, the first individual goal states:

Goal: R.D.M. will decrease verbal aggression at the Group Home;

1. R.D.M. will express his feelings regarding his experiences in the past;
2. Discuss with clinician awareness and insight into his angry thoughts and feelings;
3. Learn alternative ways of expressing his anger, increase respectful communication by understanding his angry feelings/ and work towards letting go of the past;
4. R.D.M. will talk with counselor about his anger from the past; learn that adults can be trusted, caring people, who will be kind and thoughtful.
5. Explore R.D.M.'s feelings regarding his past with the adoptive family and then his biological family

Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*5, Exhibit 14, R.D.M.'s Treatment Plan (March 3, 2023).

In Exhibit 9 – J.J.L. Part B, Page 91, Bates Stamp No. 026274, the “Purpose of Contact” for J.J.L. is listed as:

1) J.J.L. will identify her feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways. J.J.L. will identify her feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways as evidenced by her mother, natural supports, school staff, in order to increase functioning and decrease negative consequences and practice daily engaging in communication (maintaining eye contact, assertiveness, etc) that will increase closeness in relationships with others ( to include siblings, natural supports, classmates, etc).

Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*5, Exhibit 9 – J.J.L. Part B, Page 91, Bates Stamp No. 026274 (March 3, 2023). J.J.L.'s September 16, 2014 plan of care lists the third goal as:

J.J.L. will identify her feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways. J.J.L. will identify her feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways as evidenced by her mother, natural supports, school staff, in order to increase functioning and decrease negative consequences and practice daily engaging in communication (maintaining eye

contact, assertiveness, etc) that will increase closeness in relationships with others ( to include siblings, natural supports, classmates, etc).

Amended Response to Motion for Costs, \*5, Exhibit 15, J.J.L. Plan of Care (March 3, 2023).

In Exhibit 7 – J.J.G. Part A pt 2, the “Purpose of Contact” of J.J.G. is listed as:

1) J.J.G. will identify his feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways. J.J.G. will identify his feelings and practice expressing them in healthy ways as evidenced by his mother, natural supports, school staff, in order to increase functioning and will practice engaging in communication {assertiveness ,etc) that will increase closeness in relationships with others ( to include siblings, natural supports, classmates , etc) on a daily basis.

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