**RECEIVED**

**Dec 14 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000791

---

A.M.L., and J.J.L., by and through their Next of Friend, John Doe,  
R.D.M., by and through his Next of Friend, Jane Snow, J.J.G., and S.T.S.,  
.....Appellants,

v.

Wright Directions Family Services, LLC..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
WRIGHT DIRECTIONS FAMILY SERVICES, LLC**

---

Elizabeth F. Morrison (SC Bar No. 100611)  
Whelan Mellen & Norris, LLC  
89 Broad Street  
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

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

Likewise, Appellants challenge the amount of time expended by Respondent's employees because their counsel and paralegal expended considerably less time "reviewing and redacting" their clients' names from the 4,576 pages of redacted records produced. Ironically, when Appellants challenged the sufficiency of the production of these records, one of their biggest issues with the production was that "80 – 90% of the records were redacted." (R. p.228.) Thus, the application of time it took Appellants' counsel and paralegal to review and redact their clients' names from the records - 3.6 hours - is nowhere near analogous to the amount of time it would have taken Respondent's employees to review and redact clinical impressions from a substantial portion of 4,576 pages of records.

In sum, the trial court was satisfied with the contents of the affidavit documenting the requested costs, and it did not abuse its discretion in awarding the costs set forth in the affidavit. Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

2. The Affidavit of Ronda Stevens is also sufficient evidentiary support for the labor rates of the employees who compiled, reviewed, and redacted Appellants' records for production.

Appellants claim Respondent "has failed to provide any evidence which would justify the rates" of the employees who compiled, reviewed, and redacted Appellants' records for production, but that simply is untrue. Again, the hourly rates used to calculate the costs were supported by the Affidavit of Ronda Stevens. While Appellants argue Respondent should have provided "information as to why each employee's rate was

justified and why another employee could [sic] have performed the same work at a lower rate,” there is no such requirement under the law, and this Court should not adopt one. With respect to the burden they seek to impose on Respondent, Appellants misstate the holding in Wiwa v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co. (App.’s Brief at 14.) Wiwa, a nearly 20-year-old decision of the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, does not state that a party, like Respondent, who is permitted to recover costs, must justify in any particular way the amount of costs sought. Instead, Wiwa discusses who bears the burden in demonstrating “that compliance with [a] subpoena would be ‘unreasonable and oppressive,’” 392 F.3d 812, 818 (5th Cir. 2004), an issue not relevant in this appeal.

3. The six factors relevant to an award of attorney’s fees have no bearing on the March 28, 2023 Order allowing costs.

Appellants argue, for the first time on appeal, the March 28, 2023 Order awarding costs should be reversed because the trial court failed to provide any factual basis for the reasonableness of the hours spent or the rates used to calculate the costs. (App.’s Brief at 13.) Specifically, according to Appellants, the six factors our trial courts should consider in determining a reasonable attorney’s fee also apply to an award of costs. (App.’s Brief at 13-14.) Not only is this argument not preserved for review,<sup>5</sup> it is also not the law of this state. Appellants cite no legal authority to support this conclusion, and Respondent is aware of none. In fact, the cases cited by Appellants for their proposition that the trial court should have considered some or all of the six factors are cases addressing attorney’s fees, not the labor costs incurred by a party when its employees must compile, review, and redact thousands of pages of protected health information for production.

---

<sup>5</sup> “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

4. The award of Respondent’s actual labor costs compiling, reviewing, and redacting the records in compliance with the April 12, 2022 Order should not be compared to per page copy costs.

For the first time on appeal, Appellants cite the 2013 rule change to 45 C.F.R. § 164.524(c)(4) as a suggestion<sup>6</sup> that the costs awarded to Respondent were impermissible. *See Modifications to the HIPAA Privacy, Security, Enforcement, and Breach Notification Rules Under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act; Other Modifications to the HIPAA Rules*, 78 FR 5566-01, 5635-36 (proposed January 25, 2013) (“2013 Omnibus Rule”).

Appellants argue that the 2013 Omnibus Rule limits what Respondent can recover to what is allowed under state law. (App.’s Brief at 15). But Appellants fail to identify a state law they believe applies to and was violated by the award of costs to Respondent, and they may not do so for the first time on appeal.

Moreover, while the Schutte example in Appellants’ brief refers to per-page copy costs, Respondent is not seeking charges for the copies or electronic submission of the documents. The final rule makes clear that under Section 164.524(c)(4)(i), “labor costs

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellants quote (though fail to cite) Schutte v. Ciox Health, LLC, 28 F.4th 850, 857 (7th Cir. 2022) as follows:

“Another regulation clarifies how this provision interacts with state laws regulating fees: ‘When a State law provides a limit on the fee that a covered entity may charge for a copy of protected health information, this is relevant in determining whether a covered entity’s fee is ‘reasonable’ under § 164.524(c)(4).’ If state law limits the permissible charges to 25 cents per page, for example, then the covered entity may not charge more than that amount even if its costs are higher.”

(App.’s Brief at 15). Appellants fail to take this argument any further by, for example, identifying a state law they contend provides a limit on the costs Respondent was entitled to recover.

included in a reasonable cost-based fee could include *skilled technical staff time spent to create and copy the electronic file, such as compiling, extracting, scanning and burning protected health information to media, and distributing the media. This could also include the time spent preparing an explanation or summary of the protected health information, if appropriate.*” *Id.* at 5636. (emphasis added).<sup>7</sup> In this regard, the 2013 Omnibus Rule changes are directly on point with what Respondent is seeking to recover. As contemplated by the 2013 Omnibus Rule, Respondent sought and was awarded the labor costs associated with its skilled technical staff time compiling, extracting, scanning and redacting the information as required by the trial court’s April 12, 2022 Order.

Furthermore, the amount of costs awarded to Respondent are not as “extraordinary” as Appellants claim. (R. p.4562.) South Carolina’s trial courts have awarded—and this Court has affirmed—costs in much larger amounts. See, e.g., Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 582, 787 S.E.2d 498, 519 (2016) (affirming trial court’s award of costs totaling \$245,011, concluding, “[b]ased on the standard of review and the evidence in the record, it was well within the trial court's discretion to grant [respondent] costs”); Lewis v. Lewis, 392 S.C. 381, 394, 709 S.E.2d 650, 656–57 (2011) (upholding family court’s award of expert witness fees in the amount of \$23,066.25); Taylor v. Medenica, 331 S.C. 575, 579, 503 S.E.2d 458 (1998) (affirming award of costs in the amount \$24,068.00).

---

<sup>7</sup>On January 23, 2020, a federal court vacated certain portions of the 2013 Omnibus Rule and found that the fee limitation set forth at 45 C.F.R. § 164.524(c)(4) would apply only to an individual’s request for access to their own records and does not apply to an individual’s request to transmit records to a third party, such as, their attorney. Ciox Health, LLC v. Azar, et al., 435 F Supp 3d 30, 66-69. (D.D.C. 2020); See also United States Department of Health and Human Services, *Important Notice Regarding Individuals’ Right of Access to Health Records* <<https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/court-order-right-of-access/index.html>> (accessed November 7, 2023).

Simply stated, Appellants have failed to identify any applicable law that supports their challenge of the costs awarded by the circuit court. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should be affirmed. Joubert v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs., 341 S.C. 176, 192–93, 534 S.E.2d 1, 9–10 (Ct. App. 2000) (noting that the failure to provide argument or supporting authority for an issue renders it abandoned).

**II. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Declining to Impose Sanctions Under Rule 11 Against Respondent.**

Appellants advised the court in their June 12, 2023, filing that their only concern on appeal was “the lower court’s decision to award an extraordinary amount in costs to the Defendant.” Yet, in their Final Brief, Appellants ask this Court to sanction Respondent for submitting a fraudulent invoice in violation of Rule 11, SCRPC and to award Appellants costs and attorney’s fees. To the extent this issue was not voluntarily waived by Appellants’ failure to mention it in their appealability memorandum, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to impose Rule 11 sanctions against Respondent.

**A. Respondent did not Violate Rule 11, SCRPC.**

Assuming this issue was preserved for review, this Court should uphold the trial court’s decision to deny Appellants’ request for sanctions. The trial court did not abuse its discretion declining to impose Rule 11 sanctions against Respondent.

Appellants argue that Respondent submitted “fraudulent billing” and a “false affidavit” to the circuit court in support of their Motions for Costs. (App.’s Brief at 18-19). Appellants argue that Respondent’s motion and exhibits “failed to inform the circuit court in any manner why its claimed costs were so exorbitant.” (App.’s Brief at 16). Appellants argue that Respondent (specifically their counsel) should be sanctioned for violating Rule 11, SCRPC in submitting a fraudulent invoice to the court. Appellants attack Respondent’s

costs of \$7,811.44 as being “laughable” (App.’s Brief at 19) but also ask this Court to sanction Respondent by awarding Appellants attorney’s fees and the costs of their reading expert, Dr. Ortlieb in the amount of \$9,860.00 as well as paralegal fees of \$4,700.00, which is nearly double the amount of costs sought by Respondent for complying with an unappealed court order that awarded Respondent costs. (R. p. 4433; p.4450.)

Under Rule 11, a party and/or the party's attorney may be sanctioned for filing a frivolous pleading, motion, or other paper, or for making frivolous arguments. See Link v. School District of Pickens County, 302 S.C. 1, 393 S.E.2d 176 (1990). The party and/or attorney may also be sanctioned for filing a pleading, motion, or other paper in bad faith (i.e., to cause unnecessary delay) whether or not there is good ground to support it. Johnson v. Dailey, 318 S.C. 318, 457 S.E.2d 613 (1995). The sanction may include an order to pay the reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred by the party or parties defending against the frivolous action or action brought in bad faith, a reasonable fine to be paid to the court, or a directive of a nonmonetary nature designed to deter the party or the party's attorney from bringing any future frivolous action or action in bad faith. Further, if appropriate under the facts of the case, the court may order a party and/or the party's attorney to pay a reasonable monetary penalty to the party or parties defending against the frivolous action or action brought in bad faith. Rule 11(a), SCRPC.

As discussed above in Section I.B., there are no grounds for sanctions because Respondent was permitted by the April 12, 2022 Order to seek its costs, Respondent supported its Motion for Costs with a sworn affidavit, and while Appellants insist the labor could have been more efficient, that insistence does not establish that the affidavit of Stevens was fraudulent. Appellants have not, and presumably cannot, point to any relevant

statute or case law that supports their position that the hours submitted, or the labor rates of Respondent's employees were fraudulently represented in the affidavit. The affidavit of their expert, who has only seen the redacted records, has no healthcare or HIPAA compliance background, and has no personal knowledge of the work performed by Respondent, opined only about reading speeds – not reasonable times to conduct redactions and ensure compliance with HIPAA. Likewise, work performed by Appellants' legal team, who reviewed and redacted Appellants' names from the already redacted records, was not analogous to the work performed by Respondent, who compiled Appellants' records, reviewed each page for clinician impressions, and redacted the clinician impressions. Appellants' lawyers' time spent is not the benchmark against which Respondent's time spent must be judged.

In short, the record is devoid of conduct warranting sanctions from this Court. See Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A., 408 S.C. 620, 645, 760 S.E.2d 399, 412 (2014), abrogated by Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson, 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E.2d 485 (2016) (affirming circuit court in determining that Appellant engaged in “dilatory litigation tactics,” lodged “frivolous and dilatory appeals,” filed affidavits and memoranda “without reasonable basis,” and moved for reconsideration after nearly every ruling made by the circuit court); Runyon v. Wright, 322 S.C. 15, 20, 471 S.E.2d 160, 162 (1996) (affirming Rule 11 sanctions against an attorney who brought interpleader action alleging in bad faith his attorney's fees were paid using illegal drug money, in which the circuit court determined the interpleader action was to prevent or delay satisfaction of the \$6,000 judgment entered against him); Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 370 S.C. 5, 19, 633 S.E.2d 722, 729 (2006) (affirming Rule 11 sanctions against a party for submitting an

affidavit that the trial court later described as “false” based on deposition testimony that directly contradicts statements made in the affidavit); but see Se. Site Prep, LLC v. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC, 394 S.C. 97, 109, 713 S.E.2d 650, 656 (Ct. App. 2011) (because Respondents survived summary judgment motions, but subsequently withdrew their claims after Appellant-Defendants presented their case, they were not subject to sanctions).

As Respondent’s entitlement to an award of costs was upheld twice by the trial court and the amount of fees was likewise affirmed twice by the trial court, Appellants have failed to establish that Respondent’s conduct is sanctionable.

**B. Appellants abandoned this issue on appeal.**

Based on Appellants representations to this Court on June 12, 2023, in their “Memorandum on Appealability,” the only issue they preserved for appeal was “the lower court’s decision to award an extraordinary amount in costs to the [Respondent].”

An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority. State v. Howard, 384 S.C. 212, 217, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (Ct. App. 2009); see also State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58–59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (stating an argument is deemed abandoned on appeal when conclusory and without supporting authority).

Here, Appellants, in their Memorandum to this Court providing clarification about what was being appealed, not only failed to mention the denial of sanctions but also made no reference to any case law to support that it was properly on appeal. Thus, this Court should deem the issue of sanctions abandoned and decline to consider this argument.

## CONCLUSION

The trial court properly held that Respondent was entitled to costs as allowed under the unappealed April 12, 2022, Order and did not abuse its discretion in awarding the amount Respondent requested as it was supported by an affidavit. Further, Appellants have failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellants' request for sanctions against Respondent pursuant to Rule 11, SCRPC. Accordingly, the Order of the trial court should be affirmed.